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Oral evidence

Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 1

Taken before the Home Affairs Committee

on Tuesday 5 February 2008

Members present

Keith Vaz, in the Chair

Ms Karen Buck

Mr James Clappison
Mrs Ann Cryer
David T C Davies
Mrs Janet Dean
Patrick Mercer

Gwyn Prosser

Bob Russell
Martin Salter

Mr Gary Streeter
Mr David Winnick

Witness: Ms Klara Skrivankova, Anti-Slavery International, gave evidence.

Q1 Chairman: Can I formally begin our new inquiry
into human trafficking and welcome Klara
Skrivankova from the UK Human Trafficking
Centre Prevention sub-Group. Thank you for giving
evidence on this very first session of the Select
Committee. We have obviously read a lot about
human trafficking but one of the problems we have
is to try and find out the sheer scale of it, the numbers
involved both in terms of people coming here as
forced labour and also within the sex industry as a
whole. Are we getting any clearer picture as to the
numbers of people involved in human trafficking?
Ms Skrivankova: The truth is, as you have already
mentioned, nobody really knows the whole extent of
trafficking, and there are several reasons why this is
happening. One of the reasons of course is that
trafficking happens underground and is an illicit
crime, and the information that we have is only from
those that come forward or from those cases that
come to the attention of the authorities or of the
NGOs. We suspect that it is not more than 10 to 15%
of the cases of the whole scale, so that is quite a low
number. What is important to mention is that the
problem is connected to the lack of identification.
There are very few people who are actually identified
as being trafficked and Anti-Slavery International,
the organisation I come from, has carried out a
research recently into trafficking for forced labour
and in the course of the research, which was focusing
on the qualitative side, we have managed to discover
over two dozen cases of people who were trafficked
for forced labour in the UK. However, none of these
cases were identified as a case of trafficking by the
agencies that initially recorded them, and that is
quite a significant issue. Already from the anecdotal
evidence that we have and that some other
organisations have we can conclude that we have a
significant problem, but we have to focus on more
identification and a proper identification mechanism
to be able to assess the scale.

Q2 Chairman: Do we have numbers, for example,
for the UK? Would you know how many people are
currently in the UK who have been trafficked here?

Ms Skrivankova: There are some minimum
estimates and they are very conservative estimates
from the government. You will be aware of the
number of 4,000 women that are trafficked at any
given time into the UK, which is the government
estimate and is a very conservative estimate.

Q3 Chairman: When you say “at any given time” at
the moment you estimate—and we know that these
are going to be estimates—you estimate that it is
about 4,000?

Ms Skrivankova: That is the government estimate
and that is only on women trafficked for sexual
exploitation. So what is important to point out is
that this number does not include people who are
trafficked for labour exploitation.

Q4 Chairman: Do you have a rough figure as to how
many those are?

Ms Skrivankova: The only number on people who
are trafficked for labour exploitation that we
currently have comes from the statistics of an
organisation called Kalyaan, and they provide
assistance to migrant domestics that were in forced
labour or were trafficked. According to their data
they have recorded within a year that over 300
people were trafficked in London—only in
London—for the purposes of domestic work. So
that is quite a high number over a short period of
time.

QS5 Chairman: So roughly 300 for domestic workers
and roughly 4,000—and you are saying it is a
conservative estimate—

Ms Skrivankova: That is a very conservative
estimate.

Q6 Chairman: . . . of women in the UK at the present
time who are here in the sex industry?

Ms Skrivankova: The sex industry and domestic
work; the number does not include any other forms
of labour exploitation. We have discovered people
who are trafficked into construction, processing,
packaging and into agriculture and in the catering
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industry. We now have information about people
who are trafficked for committing illicit activities
and we do not know that number.

Q7 Chairman: But it is more than 5000?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 would say so, yes. We have
enough information to conclude that it is a
significant problem, that it is in thousands. If you
look at the number of cases that were recovered in
the recent police operation, Pentameter, that ran
over a period of, I believe, four to six months, within
that they have just in a small area recovered over 80
cases, and that was over a short period of time of a
focused action.

Q8 Chairman: We will come on later specifically to
employment of children but on statistics now—and
just on statistics—do we have any statistics of the
number of children who have been trafficked into
this country?

Ms Skrivankova: According to the research of
ECPAT—and that was confirmed by the
government—the suspicion is that there are several
hundred children that may have been trafficked into
the UK. One of the numbers talk about 300; the
more recent research suggests that at any given time
there might be at minimum about 600 children
within the asylum system or that have gone through
the asylum system and have gone missing from care
that may have been trafficked. So we are talking
about hundreds of children. Just for your
information, the research was carried out just in
several regions of the UK; so we have rough
information about several regions. So we are talking
again about hundreds of children.

Chairman: We will come on to the regions now with
Mr Patrick Mercer.

Q9 Patrick Mercer: Do you think that the victims of
trafficking are spread evenly—if that is the right
phrase—throughout the United Kingdom, or are
there clear regional differences in as and where they
might be?

Ms Skrivankova: What we can say for sure is that no
region is immune against trafficking. There have
been cases of trafficking recorded all through the
UK. What we have to look into is what we can
describe as the risk areas, at the industries that we
know and where we have discovered cases of
trafficking. Very often it will be industries where
migrant workers are employed, where cheap labour
is employed, where temporary labour is employed;
so0, for example, those regions where there is a high
concentration of agriculture there have been cases
recorded of people trafficked for the purpose of
agriculture. Again, there are clear regions that focus
on shellfish gathering, on fishing industries; there
have been cases of those as well. There are of course
areas where we know of sexual exploitation. There
are regions and boroughs, for example in London,
where we know that people employ migrant
domestic workers and there are cases of abuses
recorded. So what we know for sure is that all
regions are affected; and importantly, if we are
implementing some measures, we have to focus on

measures that are implemented across the regions.
For example, that all the police within all the
constabularies are following the same guidance in
terms of identification; that there is a clear system in
place where a person who suspects somebody might
have been trafficked refers them to a competent
authority that is composed of a multi-agency group
that can identify and refer the case to proper
assistance and that protection can be afforded to the
victims as well as the police being able to pursue a
prosecution. So it is very important to focus on the
issue in all the regions.

Q10 Chairman: You said to Mr Mercer “all the
regions”—every town and city in Britain?

Ms Skrivankova: Of course we do not have research
about that but the evidence we have suggests that
there is not really immunity against trafficking.
There might not be trafficking happening in every
town and region but people might be trafficked
through that town; people might be trafficked from
one place to another and, as I said, if there is an
indication of the industries then those regions where
trafficking for labour exploitation as well as sexual
exploitation was previously found then we have
indicators of possible trafficking happening.

Q11 Martin Salter: Keeping along the lines of the
current regional and national trends, do you have
any information that you can share with us about
whether or not traffickers from specific countries or
specific areas of the world tend to specialise in
specific criminal activity or specific purposes for
trafficking people? We heard earlier from a
Parliamentary expert in this that the Roma
community in particular are desperately vulnerable
to be trafficked into the sex trade. We all saw the
horrible consequences of the Chinese cockle pickers
being effectively trafficked for false labour. I have
heard lots of stories myself about how many people
are trafficked into Chinese restaurants, in particular
in London and the south of England. Can you share
any of your hard facts with us or your experiences
with us in that regard?

Ms Skrivankova: You are absolutely correct in
concluding that there are certain areas or industries
that tend to have certain nationalities. From the
research we have carried out we have found, for
example, that the majority of people who are
trafficked for agriculture come from Central and
Eastern Europe. A lot of people who are trafficked
in the catering industry would be coming from south
Asia or south-east Asia. A lot of people that are
trafficked for the purposes of cleaning would be
coming from South America. Women that are
trafficked for sexual exploitation, at the moment
there is a mixture between women who are trafficked
from the countries of Eastern Europe, women
trafficked from particular countries in Africa and
women trafficked from Asia, in particular China and
Thailand. T think the information that we have
about the profile of the nationalities shows us that
actually there is not a typical victim of trafficking,
that people are trafficked to the UK from all parts of
the world and the trends are changing. That is
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something on which we need to focus in the
measures that we are putting into place, to look at
what is happening in the UK, why the people are so
vulnerable to being trafficked and when they manage
to escape from the situation of trafficking what needs
to be done in order to protect them from being re-
trafficked. It is to address the underlying factor,
which is their vulnerability that is very often
connected to the threats, to the violence and, more
importantly, to their status in the country, as well as
look at the situation in the countries of origin, why
the people are forced to migrate, why the people are
forced to solve their situation connected to poverty
and lack of opportunities by migrating somewhere
forlabour; and why are they not able to do it in a safe
way, why are there people taking advantage of that
situation and forcing them into exploitative
conditions.

Q12 Martin Salter: Looking around Europe in
particular, what would you say are the top countries
of choice? Where is the destination most favoured by
the traffickers? Is it Britain, is it Italy, is it Spain?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 think Western Europe as a whole
is the place and more increasingly also Central
Europe, but what we have to bear in mind is that
people are very often trafficked to different
countries. So somebody might be trafficked to the
UK for a couple of months and then moved to
Ireland or moved to Italy, to Spain, which is one of
the ways in which the traffickers control the people,
by moving them more often, by preventing them
from maybe learning about their rights and getting
to know their environment and escape. So that is
something we need to bear in mind, that whatever
measures we put in place here in the UK we have to
see what is the context in Europe and what the
implications will be on the whole scale of trafficking.

Q13 Martin Salter: But you would not say that
Britain is a more preferred destination than France
or Italy or any other relatively prosperous
European country?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 would say it is comparably
popular. I think all the countries where there is a
need for migrant labour are the countries that are
going to be targeted by traffickers, unless there are
channels for safe, legal labour migration.

Q14 Chairman: Taking Mr Salter’s question in an
opposite way, is Moldova still the top as far as
people coming from Moldova? We have had a
statistic that a third of the population of Moldova
has now left Moldova; is that a correct statistic?
Ms Skrivankova: 1t is a correct statistic and it is an
indication of the vulnerability; it is an indication of
why people migrate; it is an indication that there are
no opportunities and no possibility to support
themselves. Moldova is not at the moment,
according to the information I have, the top country
of origin for the UK.

Q15 Chairman: Which is?

Ms Skrivankova: At the moment in terms of sexual
exploitation we are looking at people from
Lithuania, Nigeria, China and Thailand. For labour
exploitation and for illicit activities it is Vietnam. If
you look at the profile of women that are trafficked
for domestic labour we see a lot of women from the
Philippines, from India, from Sri Lanka; and we see
a high number of the new EU nationals trafficked to
the UK from Poland and Lithuania, which is one of
the examples I have already given.

Q16 Bob Russell: On the trafficking in the sex
industry, if I can use that term, it is all down to
supply and demand. What is your view on the large
number of local newspapers, regional newspapers
that carry advertisements for so-called massage
parlours? Is this feeding the frenzy of the sex trade
and the trafficking of women?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 think you would be aware that
there are various different approaches to regulating
or criminalising the use of sexual services. What we
know is that from countries that have decided to go
the either/or way there is no conclusive evidence to
suggest that one way or another would influence
trafficking. What is important to say is that
trafficking does not equal prostitution and there is a
potential danger in creating this equation; it is a
more complex issue that, as you say, is connected to
the situation in the country of destination as well as
to the situation in the country of origin. There is a
lot of coercion going on; people are put under threat,
people are exploited, there is violence involved for
those who are trafficked, and they are at risk before
and they are at risk after. There are causes and
consequences of trafficking and that is one thing that
needs to be borne in mind when we talk about the sex
industry as a whole, and there is no conclusive
evidence based on research that would suggest that
the existence of the sex industry would be the main
reason why trafficking exists because trafficking
exists in other industries as well. So it is really
looking at the protection and the rights aspect of the
issue that unveils what are the underlying problems
that are connected to poverty, lack of opportunity
and people being forced into survival strategies that
they would not choose if they had opportunities.

Q17 Bob Russell: I recognise all those points you are
making but, in a provincial town, unless there were
two or three columns of these adverts in the local
newspaper how would potential customers know
about them? In other words, the demand is being
created and therefore people are required to fulfil
that demand created by the advertisements. That is
what the advertising industry is all about; that is why
firms advertise their wears, and here we are
advertising the sex trade.

Ms Skrivankova: As 1 said, if you wish to tackle that
sort of demand there are things that need to be borne
in mind that could be created by putting in place
certain arrangements. There are dangers of things
going more underground, of the problem being
displaced and also of putting people at more risk by,
for example, criminalising punters who present a
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certain percentage of those who actually help out the
women. If you imagine a situation where you have a
trafficker that can be potentially criminally liable as
well as the punter and the victim of trafficking then
there are two sides that can potentially put the
person in danger, whereas in a situation where the
punter is not criminally liable the victim might have
a resort how to get out. There are statistics from the
police as well as from the POPPY Project that
suggest that loads of intelligence would come from
punters.

Q18 David Davies: A sensitive matter but you will
probably be aware that one police force in the
Midlands area has launched an investigation into
what they call internal trafficking, that is the
trafficking of—if I can say it—white indigenous
British girls for sexual purposes. Are you aware of
that and is that a major problem?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 am aware of that investigation
being made. I do not have much more information
about that. The important thing I want to point out
is that when we talk about internal trafficking by
definition internal trafficking means trafficking of
anybody within the UK, and we have evidence of
people who came to the UK from other countries
legally and then became victims of trafficking within
the UK, very often trafficked from London to
Scotland, and this particular case I have in mind was
a man who was trafficked into the fishing industry.
So I think again if we start talking about internal
trafficking we should be looking at the whole scope.
I know of countries, for example the Netherlands,
they started an inquiry into internal trafficking and
once they had started it they found that it is quite a
significant percentage of people trafficked within
the country.

Q19 Mr Clappison: Going back a moment to the list
of countries which you read out to us, most of those
are outside the European Union and many, if not all
of them, are subject to what we were led to believe
was a strict visa control, one of them being Nigeria
which we visited as a Committee. Can you give us
some indication as to how people are getting around
the visa controls because people are only supposed
to get permission to come and work in this country
if they are skilled or semi-skilled or if they are
coming here as students, otherwise there is supposed
to be a very strict visa control. What is going wrong?
Ms Skrivankova: If you look at the information that
we have gathered in our research, as well as the
information, for example, from the Operation
Pentameter, the trend suggests that the majority of
people who are trafficked to the UK, both from the
countries of the EU as well as from the countries
outside of the EU, came to the country legally and
very often were made illegal by the traffickers. [tisa
very commonly used method of coercion to take the
passport away, to replace the passport with a
fraudulent document, which actually shifts the
liability to the victim, or prevent the people from
extending their visa and at that point starting to
exploit them. One of the most commonly used
methods of coercion is indeed retention of

documents or replacing them with fraudulent
documents, or preventing them from extending the
visa.

Q20 Mr Clappison: A labourer from China or
Vietnam that you mentioned, or a girl from Nigeria,
how are they actually getting into the country? On
what basis are they getting permission to come here?
Ms Skrivankova: Many of them would be coming on
regular work visas but one of the things that is worth
noting is that work visas are very often tied to one
concrete employment or employer, which puts a
very high power into the hands of the employer.
What we have witnessed is that people threatened
the victims saying, “If you complain, if you run away
you will be illegal and I will get you deported,” and
there are instances of workers who tried to complain
about working conditions, they were forced to
overstay their visas and the employer calling in the
immigration services and the people were
subsequently deported. There is an example of how
the system can be improved and it is the system that
is currently in place for the migrant domestic
workers, that was put in place in 1998 as a result of
evidence of abuse. Under the current rules the
migrant domestic workers come in on a renewable
visa with the family. If abused they can change
employment within the same sector; they can find
another employer, and thereby they are protected
when they come forward. The regulation is very
clear, the regulation stays with the government, the
visa is given for a purpose and it is given only in a
certain category; they can renew the visa only when
they are in full employment. At the moment they
have no recourse to public funds. And at the
moment there is a proposal on the table to reverse
that and to put migrant workers in a situation that
would de facto condone trafficking exploitation
when there is no reason for it. And evidence also
from other sectors shows that if the people had a
chance to change employment within the same
sector they are protected against abuse because the
fact that the employers effectively hold the visas of
their employees puts a very significant amount of
power in them.

Mr Clappison: Could you write to us with any
evidence you have on the subject?

Chairman: That would be very helpful. I do not want
to stop what you are saying, Ms Skrivankova, it is
just that we have a lot of questions to ask of you.
Janet Dean is going to ask about the employment
of children.

Q21 Mrs Dean: Obviously the media recently has
focused on children being brought into the UK to
work as criminals, whether that is tending cannabis
factories or acting as pickpockets. Could you give us
some information about the children? Where are
most children trafficked into the UK employed? I
would also be interested to know which countries
mainly children come from into the UK and how
many of them, for instance, come with their parents
or come alone, and on what basis do they come here?
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Ms Skrivankova: You have already mentioned the
issue of children being trafficked for the purposes of
committing illicit activities and it is one of the
problems and one of the trends we have been facing
in the UK. At the moment unfortunately we still see
those children being treated as criminals rather than
as victims of trafficking. There are instances of
children that were put in detention centres and
indeed convicted in connection with illegal cannabis
factories as opposed to being treated as children, as
victims of trafficking and afforded protection. So
there seem to be a number of children coming from
Vietnam, according to the information of the
organisation called ECPAT as well as the social
services. There seems to be over the past six months
an increasing number of Vietnamese children
coming to the UK. Some of the children would be
coming as a part of the family, some of the children
would be coming as unaccompanied asylum seeking
children; and that is an important aspect to point
out, that the children very often go missing from care
and you will have a lot of submissions I believe from
the children’s agencies on that. There is a failure in
identification of the children and there is a failure in
providing an institute of guardian that will be
assigned to each child identified potentially at risk of
being trafficked to ensure that this child is placed
into proper care, and that the best interests of the
child are addressed. What is important to point out
is really again the issue of vulnerability because
many of the children coming to the UK have been
previously abused and exploited in their home
countries, or they were living in a family where the
adults of the family had no parental responsibility
over them, and that is problematic. There are other
issues that are connected to that but I do not want to
go into much detail on that because I do not have
that much information.

Q22 Mrs Dean: Do you have any information that
would help the Committee to look at what
percentage came with parents, without parents, as to
whether they came seeking asylum or whether they
came to work?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 am afraid 1 do not have that
information, but I am sure an organisation called
ECPAT has much more thorough information
specifically on children.

Q23 Ms Buck: Just on that point, do you actually
liaise with the Association of Directors of Social
Services and know from social services how many
children are with families or particularly
unaccompanied asylum seeking children are in each
borough? And are they saying, as you are, that there
has been this change in the country or origin of
children, because they would presumably know if
there are, for example, Vietnamese children arriving
in the country without parents?

Ms Skrivankova: Yes, according to the information
that ECPAT has received from the social services
there is an increasing number of Vietnamese and
Romanian children as well. The problem we have at
the moment is that the UK has a reservation on the
United Nations Convention on the Rights of a Child

that basically prevents children that are non-British
nationals from getting a complex way of protection,
and I think that is very problematic and is one of the
ways in which children are still vulnerable when they
escape from the situation of trafficking or when they
come to the UK and are at risk of being re-trafficked.
Ms Buck: Can I ask have we actually had
representations from the Directors of Social
Services?

Chairman: We will be asking them to give evidence
to us; we will certainly be doing that. Can I bring in
David Winnick?

Q24 Mr Winnick: How far are we able to distinguish
between adults who are badly treated by their
employers, paid less than the minimum wage and
treated generally with contempt, and actually forced
labour? Is there a distinction there to be drawn?
Ms Skrivankova: That is a very important point you
have raised. Sometimes it is very difficult to
distinguish what do we mean by bad conditions and
where the line is to forced labour. What is important
is to look at the situation of exploitation as the
indication and as the important element, to look at
the indicators of forced labour which are available,
which have been created by the International
Labour Organisation, and those indicators are
exactly those indicators that are also indicators of
trafficking, such as removal of documents,
confinement, violence, threat of violence, threat of
denunciation to the authorities. So if these
indicators are present there is an indication that
trafficking might be happening, and this situation
should prompt an investigation. However, at the
moment the situation of exploitation is not taken as
the decisive part of an identification situation. Very
often you would see that immigration control is the
part that takes the lead and because of the
contradictions  between  the  policies—the
immigration policy, trying to meet the deportation
targets and the trafficking policy that is actually
trying to tackle trafficking—there is a contradiction
and, as you said, it is very difficult to find out a
situation of exploitation, and those who are charged
with the identification process will have to be aware
of the indications and will have to know that the
people who are trafficked are unlikely to self-identify
as a result of the coercion. So what we need to have
is a shift in the focus and start looking at the
situation of exploitation first, and secondly asking
how do these people arrive at a situation of
exploitation?

Q25 Mr Winnick: There is general concern—and
some cases have come to light—where people have
been used as domestic servants. Saudi Arabia,
rightly or wrongly tends to be mentioned—not
necessarily connected to the Embassy but very rich
Saudis in Britain—although I am sure there are
other nationalities, who have domestic servants who
are almost slave labour. Is that a widespread
problem, the use of domestic servants in that way?
Ms Skrivankova: Yes, some of the situations of the
migrant domestic workers are really situations of
slavery. From the information we have from
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Kalyaan over 68% of those who were referred to
Kalyaan were subject to some sort of psychological
abuse; over one-quarter have suffered physical
violence that goes from hitting, burning with an
iron, spitting on the people, encouraging children to
abuse domestic workers; over one-third had their
documents removed and more than half of the
workers were confined to the workplace. So we see it
as a situation that is very serious and, quite rightly,
it is a situation of slavery. But, again, I have to
reiterate that at the moment there is a chance for
these people to get out of the situation and be
employed by somebody who is not going to abuse
them.

Q26 Mr Winnick: Is it fair to point the finger more
at the Saudis in Britain or other nationalities who
come to Britain, very rich characters who are
unfortunately allowed to live here, who treat their
domestic servants in this way?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 would not have the information
about the particular countries. We know that there
are some families coming from the Middle East that
would bring domestic servants, but not exclusively
those.

Q27 Mr Winnick: It is always unfortunate that we
allow these rich characters to be in Britain in the first
place. Can the police help in any way? Are they
helpful in the sense of making inquiries and helping
the victims?

Ms Skrivankova: In the particular case of domestic
workers there are some London boroughs that have
excellent experience in dealing with domestic
workers and that could, for example, go into the
employer’s house to recover the passport of the
domestic worker and assist. Unfortunately what we
have not seen yet is a prosecution of that particular
employer for trafficking for labour exploitation.

Q28 Mr Winnick: There has been no prosecution?

Ms Skrivankova: There has been no prosecution
under the law that criminalises trafficking for labour
exploitation since its introduction now four years
ago. That is very problematic and I think it comes
down again to the lack of identification, as well as to
the lack of incentives for the people to come forward
and complain because at the moment there is no
system of protection and assistance available to
those who are trafficked for labour exploitation. So
if a person decides to go and complain about being
exploited the person is first of all not going to have
a chance to get shelter; they are very likely to be
deported because some of them would have illegal
status or would not be able to prove their identity or
to prove their status. So the implication is—and that
is one of the things you might want to ask the
government—if they are going to introduce a pilot
scheme similar to the POPPY Project that exists for
women who are sexually exploited for those who are
trafficked for labour exploitation to afford all the
rights that the people will be granted under the
Council of Europe Convention that the UK will
ratify this year, and that also those who are
trafficked for labour exploitation can enjoy those

rights, which of course contributes then to the
prosecution of the traffickers because, as we know,
without people providing information it is very
difficult to bring a trafficker to justice.

Q29 Ms Buck: Staying with that same point for the
moment, I work very closely with Kalyaan, which is
based in my constituency, and for a number of years
when the domestic workers’ concession was first
being developed. What I would like to know is your
view—and I think that domestic workers are at the
very particular sharp end of the problem because
they are almost by definition isolated. Kalyaan has
over the years been able to be very effective because
a word of mouth network can operate and that can
help some of those people. If there were a need for a
different kind of approach in other sectors what
other sectors of the economy might people be
trafficked—and we are not talking about sex here,
we are talking about forced labour—where they
would be so isolated? If workers are forced into a
situation—again, probably akin to the cockle
pickers or in agriculture—are there ways of dealing
with that which are different? Are there structures
that do not exist that should exist to help those
people?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 think it is very important to point
out that the setting where domestic workers are
trafficked to is different. However, if we look at
people who are trafficked into areas that are, I would
say, visible to the eye it does not mean necessarily
that they are not isolated—there are other ways how
to isolate, for example by the language barrier. A lot
of the migrant workers that are trafficked to the UK
actually do not speak English and in the process of
recruitment there is a deliberate choice of those who
did not speak English because they are easier to
control and isolate behind the language barrier.
Sometimes they are moved into very remote areas
where the group is in isolation; nationalities are
mixed that do not have a common language at all—
you would have Brazilians together with Polish
workers, you would have Lithuanians—so the
workers are isolated despite being in a group. So
these are just some examples. The fact that they are
moved from place to place is a form of isolation.
Sometimes they are forbidden to leave the house;
they are transported from the place of their
accommodation, which is mostly appalling
conditions, to the place of workplace and back
without a possibility to interface. So these are the
patterns and what we need is more research into
what the patterns are and where the entry points
would be. You will be aware that the government
has suggested that there is a problem with trafficking
for labour exploitation in the governmental action
plan but there was no commitment to carry out
thorough research into that to know where the entry
points are. We know, for example, that Citizens’
Advice Bureaux or sometimes the unions or
sometimes local migrant organisations pick up on
these issues and they are the ones that can possibly
identify these people. However, without a system of
protection and assistance in place there is very little
that actually can be done for these people because
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they are dependent on the employer not only for the
employment but also for accommodation and for
transport.

Q30 Ms Buck: Firstly, what can be done to reduce
demand? Again, it seems to me that that has to be a
sexual approach, if you like. Just taking the domestic
workers because that is a very particular, discrete
group, is there an argument for saying that wealthy
overseas visitors should not be allowed to bring in
domestic workers? This question of reducing
demand, should we not just ban it? Take another
sector, which is harder to do if you are bringing
people over into the agricultural sector where there
is clearly a very large demand, there might then need
to be a different way of using other bodies of
legislation—minimum wage enforcement, health
and safety enforcement and the environmental
health work that is done around housing
standards—to crack that problem.

Ms Skrivankova: If we look at trafficking from the
migration perspective the people who are trafficked
are, de facto, migrant workers who are in need of
employment and are solving their situation through
migration as a survival strategy. If you wish to look
at the demand for migrant workers the question is,
is it that sort of demand that we want to encourage
because in the economy there is a need for migrant
labour? If there was not a need for migrant labour no
migrant would come because if there is no work
nobody would come, and that is very clear and such
information spreads. So what we need to focus on is
we know that there is a need for migrant workers,
that needs to be matched with the policy that would
ensure that there are safe, legal migration channels?
What we need is legal migration channels to meet
that demand. If those are available people will not
have to resort into the hands of traffickers or into the
hands of smugglers, and if there is a right for the
people to change the employer within the same
sector, which is something that the government—

Q31 Ms Buck: Which the concession achieved in
that particular sector, that is right. But have you
yourself identified the raft of existing legislation,
existing powers that might be used in different
sectors in forced labour, to bear down to be used not
for the specific purpose of forced labour but having
in effect the benefit of being able to target and deal
with forced labour abuses?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 think at the moment the solid
piece of rules we have are the rules that are granted
to the migrant domestic workers, and we know that
the system is working and we know that the
system—

Q32 Ms Buck: That is a different point. I take your
point about migration and that is something that I
think you are arguing is transferable to other sectors
and that is something the Committee may want to
pick up, but there is a different issue, though, about
using the existing legislation that can be used in
employment, in housing standards and so forth
which can be used and targeted to deal with forced
labour. Is that something that you have looked at,

looked at that legislation and would put forward
recommendations and say to the government, “This
is where you should be bringing to bear the existing
powers that you have in order to deal with this
problem™?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 think the Council of Europe
Convention and the provisions that are under the
Council of Europe Convention provides a solution
to that because it looks at prevention, protection and
prosecutions, and it suggests methods how to
protect people by, for example, providing a
reflection period and it enables them to reflect on the
situation, recover, press charges, seek compensation
and receive a renewable residence permit for those
who might be in danger. So I think that is one of the
issues. However, at the moment there is a clear
contradiction within the immigration policy and the
anti-trafficking policy that, for example, would
prosecute some of the people who, as a result of
being trafficked, are in breach of immigration and
they are the ones that are not granted a reflection
period and would not be protected. At the same time
there is also a tendency not to afford any protection
to those who do not cooperate with the authorities,
which again goes against the principles. So at the
moment I would not like to see any additional
legislative measures; what I would like to see is to use
the legislation that is available and implement it and
ensure that those provisions that are under the
Council of Europe and the Convention that focus on
protection, which is something that we do not have
in the legislation at the moment very explicitly, are
in there are and should be sufficient when
implemented.

Q33 Ms Buck: I take all of that and I am sure that
the Committee will want to reflect on that, but is it
not also the case that that kind of lets the abusers in
this off the hook? That really in addition to looking
at protection we also need to have much more focus
on how we actually crack the abuses by employers
who are using forced labour, because not only will
they be in breach often of an abuse of individuals
and sometimes a breach of migration in spirit if not
in the letter, they will also usually be in breach of just
about every other piece of legislation that is there to
protect employers as well.

Ms Skrivankova: That is absolutely correct and I
think the focus on targeting rough employers and
exploitative employers is very important. If we take
an example of the industries that are prone to
exploitation and where we would also find
sometimes irregular workers being employed very
often it is just the workers that are being targeted;
they are deported without anybody asking about the
conditions, and the employer gets away with a fine,
sets up a new company the next day and the whole
thing goes on. So I think there is a clear focus that
needs to be shifted from again seeing trafficking
from the immigration angle to actually look at those
who are exploited and again why there has not been
any prosecution on trafficking for labour
exploitation. That might be something you would
like to ask the UK Human Trafficking Centre, what
are they doing in targeting those who are trafficking
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for labour exploitation because at the moment there
has not been any focused police operation that
would be looking at those who are the employers.

Q34 Bob Russell: You mentioned in the agricultural
and food processing areas that if there was not the
work there would not be this illegal activity going
on. Is there any connection, do you think, between
the work being available because of the supermarket
chains forcing down prices so therefore the
indigenous population are not going to take work of
that nature with salaries and wages below the
minimum wage? If that is the case do you think that
the boards of those supermarket chains are oblivious
to the fact that some of their products are reaching
the shelves through the use of illegal labour?

Ms Skrivankova: There are two important points to
point out in this sense. There is the question of,
again, the demand for cheap labour that might be
fuelled by the demand of cheap goods, and that goes
back to actually each of the consumers and the
culture of looking for a deal. We do have a minimum
wage so how is it possible that somebody can get
away with not paying the minimum wage? That also
comes down to the issue of enforcement and
resources put into enforcement of the minimum
wage and the ability of the workers to actually ask
for the minimum wage. For example, at the moment
if a worker is paid under the minimum and is
irregular in the country as a result of being coerced
and the passport has been taken away and their visa
overstayed they do not have the right to get the
minimum wage paid back; they do not have the right
to compensation. Again, it is the employer who gets
away with that repeatedly.

Bob Russell: I think we should have the supermarket
chains in here giving evidence, Chairman.
Chairman: I think that is a very good suggestion and
we will certainly do that. Thank you, Mr Russell.

Q35 Gary Streeter: On the point of the evidence we
have just heard, if the prosecuting authorities in this
country are reluctant or incompetent at prosecuting
some of these clear breaches—and I am sure that you
are right on that—has your organisation considered
bringing some kind of civil or private prosecution to
look at a test case to try and get the ball rolling and
demonstrate what is going on in this country?

Ms Skrivankova: Yes, we have considered that
possibility and it is again a question of resources. On
the other hand, I do not think that necessarily only a
test case is a way forward how to change the system.
There are ways that the government has already
considered to take forward. There is an action plan
on trafficking and that includes trafficking for labour
exploitation, and the Committee might like to ask
the responsible governmental bodies why there is
still more focus on trafficking for sexual exploitation
than trafficking for labour exploitation? We see it
again in the police activities and again in the
measures that are being put into place.

Q36 Gwyn Prosser: Ms Skrivankova, I want to ask
you about the treatment of victims. You have just
mentioned the publicity given to the sex side of the

industry. We are used to seeing the television
pictures of the door being broken down at dawn and
young girls being taken away into the vans and away
to the police station, but what happens next? Your
organisation, as we understand it, was set up to
make a shift between considering the immigration
issues and the organised crime issues on to the
essential human rights of the victim. How successful
have you been, would you say, in making that focus?
Ms Skrivankova: 1 think if we look at the treatment
of people who are trafficked in the UK today and
situations we saw three, four, five years ago I must
say there has been an improvement. For example, we
have lobbied quite intensively for setting up the
POPPY Project which is now available for women
who were trafficked for sexual exploitation. There
are issues about capacity and resources but this
project is available. We are working very closely
with the Council of Europe and we have been
involved in the drafting of the Council of Europe
Convention, which again will bring a difference,
especially on the protection side. But what we need
to stress is that introducing a system is quite an
extensive and long-term task and what we need to do
is to look at good practices outside of the UK and
also good practices that exist in the UK and retain
those and extend those. Again, one of the issues is
the issue of migrant domestic workers but also the
involvement of NGOs, for example, in the
identification of trafficked women. That is one of the
things we have been highlighting with the
government and we are at the moment working on
as establishing the competent authority, and what
we would like to see, based on the evidence we have
from abroad that a multi-agency approach where
there is the police, for example, and an NGO
working alongside in identification proved to be the
most successful in protecting the victims and also in
having witnesses that are willing to come forward to
testify and are fit to do that. For example, if we take
the example of the Netherlands, there is an
organisation that has been working in the
Netherlands for over 20 years on trafficking and they
operate what is called help desk procedure and all
cases of trafficking or suspected cases of trafficking
are referred to them and they, with their experience,
are able to carry out thorough identifications and
assess the needs of that particular victim, and that
has proven as a very successful model, and you can
look at the number of prosecutions in the
Netherlands and compare them with the number of
prosecutions in the UK. So you might want to ask
the government, especially the Home Office, how
successful has the pilot been that has been running at
the moment under Operation Pentameter 2 to grant
a reflection period and some sort of referral to
trafficked women, and have they considered to
actually bring in the NGOs as one of the
organisations helping with the identification
because, as we know, people do not self-identify,
people are scared of the authorities and, more
importantly, it is not the job of the police to provide
social services and protection; the police’s main task
is to catch those who traffic them, but of course they
have to know how to deal with trafficked women and
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they have to have somebody at hand who knows
how to talk to them, what questions to ask and who
knows from experience the trauma that they have
been through and who knows that they behave in a
certain way as a result of the trauma. That is
something that is a task of the support services; it is
not really the task of the police to provide the
social services.

Q37 Gwyn Prosser: To what extent are there
regional variations in the effectiveness of treating
victims? Y ou mentioned the pilot scheme; would you
put the pilot scheme down as an example, in your
view, of best practice or something you have seen
elsewhere?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 do not think we have enough
evidence about the pilot scheme as yet to say that it
would be good practice. To my knowledge it is
unfortunately not piloted in all the regions that are
involved in the police operation. There is an
example, that unfortunately is not an example of
good practice, that was mentioned in the Croydon
Guardian about a week or so ago of a woman that
had been rescued as part of a raid that was prompted
by a member of the public suggesting that there
might be women held in a particular brothel against
their will. The woman was rescued and the
policeman who was involved said, “Well, she was
too terrified to be a witness so we were not able to
provide her any support services.” That is not an
example of good practice because we know that
women are going to be terrified, we know that they
need time and protection and identification is a
process—and that is something, for example, that
the Council of Europe Convention stresses—and
that is why we need a reflection period where the
person can get information about their rights, about
the possibilities and can decide whether or not they
want to cooperate with the authorities.

Q38 Gwyn Prosser: Thank you for that. Lastly from
me, earlier this morning we had evidence from
Anthony Steen MP, who has done a lot of work in
this area, and he suggested that your organisation,
the Human Trafficking Centre, will never get to grips
with the human rights elements for as long as it is
under-resourced. What is your view of that?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 am actually representing Anti-
Slavery International; we are a charity so I am not in
a position—

Q39 Gwyn Prosser: You are a sub-committee, are
you not?

Ms Skrivankova: Yes. We are working with the UK
Human Trafficking Centre as an expert organisation
on some of their sub-committees but I do not have
information about the resourcing of the Human
Trafficking Centre or what their position is on that.

Q40 David Davies: Ms Skrivankova, one of the
advantages of keeping prostitution illegal at the
moment is that the police can actually go in and raid
any brothel or massage parlour where they think
there might be girls trafficked or under the age of 18
working there. Would you accept that if there were

any moves to legalise prostitution it would be very,
very difficult for the police to conduct those raids
unless they had very hard evidence indeed that such
girls are there, and that the great advantage is that
they can raid any brothel they like at the moment
without having to go through a great deal of
paperwork because the law is already being broken?
Ms Skrivankova: 1 am not quite sure about what you
mean because even in the countries where
prostitution might be regulated trafficking is illegal,
very often you would have procuring as illegal—

Q41 David Davies: Let me make this simple. The
police actually know where the brothels are; they can
go and raid any brothel at any time because they
know a law is being broken. If they choose not to do
so frankly an official blind eye is turned if a place is
well run and there is no suspicion of under age
activity or trafficking going on, and that is actually
what happens. Where there is the slightest suspicion
the police can put the door through at any time and
raid it, therefore that is the advantage of keeping
prostitution illegal; would you accept that?

Ms Skrivankova: My question would be if
prostitution was illegal does it effectively mean that
prostitution will not exist or that it will go more
underground out of the sight of the police and there
will not be a possibility for the police to actually
infiltrate.

Q42 David Davies: Is it better to have it legal or
illegal?

Ms Skrivankova: Unfortunately there is no yes or no
or an easy answer to that.

Chairman: Mr Russell has the final questions on the
international dimension.

Q43 Bob Russell: What links does your organisation
have with the source countries for trafficked people,
if any?

Ms Skrivankova: We have a wide range of partner
organisations we have been working with for many
years in virtually every continent, so we have
information and we have partners on the ground
that have been doing excellent work in the countries
of origin and there are ways how we can work
together with them on issues surrounding awareness
raising, on issues surrounding, for example, safe
return and risk assessment when we are considering
somebody from a particular country who wants to
return or is obliged to return, is it safe for the person
to return? Are there enough mechanisms for
protection for them? So we do have very extensive
contacts in the countries of origin.

Q44 Bob Russell: But these are organisations in the
source countries but in your view how willing are the
governments of the source countries to cooperate in
prevention of trafficking? Could you give an
example of where there is a government which is very
supportive of your work and perhaps a government
which could not care less?

Ms Skrivankova: Some governments are better than
the others. There are some examples, for example
from the Ukraine, of some big progress where the
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government has been cooperating on an awareness
raising campaign and there is a very good
cooperation between the Czech and the Ukrainian
government because there are high numbers of
migrant workers from the Ukraine. So there is a very
successful example of cooperation of the countries in
the region, especially on issues of trafficking and
cross border and protection issues, so there are good
examples.

Q45 Bob Russell: That is a good example. Is there a
bad example where a government shows no interest
in its people being trafficked?

Ms Skrivankova: For example, I notice that you
have visited Nigeria.

Q46 Chairman: Which other countries? Nigeria was
one of them, are there other countries that are not
cooperating?

Ms Skrivankova: The issue is not only with the
cooperation but it is also with the willingness to
actually put provisions in place.

Q47 Chairman: But are there other countries?
Ms Skrivankova: 1 would not know; I cannot give
you concrete examples.

Q48 Bob Russell: Could I ask you and your
colleagues to perhaps draw up a list because we need
to know where we need to direct our attention, I
would suggest? Linked with that, what is going on in
these countries, the source of trafficking, and what
can be done to educate and warn people about the
danger of being trafficked?

Ms Skrivankova: When we look at awareness raising
and effective awareness raising the focus of
awareness raising needs to be really on provision of
information about the rights, obligations,
information about how to migrate safely, what to do
if the people are in a problematic situation, where to
turn to for help; and more importantly it is about
creating safe, legal migration channels because
people will migrate because for many of them it is a
survival strategy, and if they cannot migrate legally
somebody will come and offer them an arrangement
that includes a visa and everything else that puts
them, at the end of the day, in debt bondage and puts

them into a situation. So there are good examples,
for example, with usage of awareness raising
through a hotline and provision of information pre-
migration about where to turn for help, what to do
and what are the possibilities. One concrete example
I can think of was a group of Ukrainian women who
were trafficked to the Czech Republic and were
provided information beforehand as to what to do if
something happens, what are the phone numbers of
the organisations that are going to help. When they
came to the Czech Republic and became exploited
they knew what to do, they knew where to go and
they were able to get out of the situation very
quickly.

Q49 Bob Russell: We as a Committee are going to
need to find some good examples of where work is
being done and where work is not being done if we
are going to have any progress at all because I am
trying to work out, from my line of questioning, how
cooperative are the transit countries? Do they, for
example, regard this as a European Union problem
because it is going to end up in Europe, or do they
regard it as a problem on their own doorstep?

Ms Skrivankova: 1 think the European Union,
especially the European Commission has been
focusing on trafficking very intensively, and I think
it is important to cooperate with the countries of
origin. But what we need to do is to also realise that
trafficking is more than an issue of crime and
immigration, it is an issue that is connected to
migration, and it is an issue connected to
development. Poverty is one of the main underlying
sources, so if we target it it is to be targeted more on
the other policy areas rather than just focusing on
one specific area that is targeting the crime.
Chairman: Thank you so much for your very, very
helpful evidence this morning; you have certainly
given us an opportunity of exploring even further the
very important subject of human trafficking. We
would be most grateful if you could let us have a note
on the points raised by Mr Russell and others
because we are keen to go to look at some of these
countries, so your guidance would be very, very
helpful. Our next session is on 19 February when the
Home Secretary will be giving evidence to us. Thank
you very much again.
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Q50 Chairman: I welcome the witnesses, Ms
Johansson and Ms Marshall, to this session of our
inquiry into human trafficking. Our inquiry into
human trafficking began a few weeks ago and we will
be taking evidence from a number of different
organisations and we are delighted to have you
present today to give evidence to us. I will begin by
asking this question and you do not both have to
answer all the questions, we are quite happy if just
one of you covers the point: what is your estimate of
the number of people involved in human trafficking?
Ms Johansson: Because of the illegal nature of
trafficking, it is very hard to provide an accurate
estimate in terms of the numbers of victims
trafficked into the UK. The POPPY Project had, at
the end of March 2008, received 925 referrals
concerning victims of trafficking. In addition to that,
the POPPY Project did a survey in the summer of
2004 where it surveyed women involved in off-street
prostitution in London and, as a result of that
survey, came to the conclusion that approximately
6,000 women were involved in off-street
prostitution, 80% of which were foreign nationals
and we believe that a large percentage of that 80%
had indeed been trafficked.

Q51 Chairman: You say in your memorandum that
there is a lack of co-operation and co-ordination
amongst key agencies that prevent organisations like
POPPY and indeed Parliament from knowing the
true scale of human trafficking. Please, explain why
you said that. Which agencies are not co-operating?
Ms Johansson: At the moment, there are no formal
mechanisms for that co-operation. Victims may be
referred to the POPPY Project without any
involvement of law enforcement agencies for
example, so individuals may refer victims to the
POPPY Project, equally victims may be referred to
the UKHTC which the POPPY Project may then not
be aware of; victims may be referred to individual
police forces or individual immigration teams where
they are not identified as victims of trafficking and
subsequently no-one will know that that victim of
trafficking has been recovered or identified.

Ms Marshall: 1 would like to add to that. At the
moment, 80% of referrals to the POPPY Project
come from the UK Borders Agency whereas 13%
come from solicitors who represent women in the
asylum process. The problem with the UK Borders

Agency is that they rely on victims to self-identity
and, when you are working with victims of
trafficking, the most vulnerable tend not to self-
identify, so we know that we lose women because the
processes are not in place for accurate identification.

Q52 Chairman: Where do the victims of sex
trafficking come from? How many are from within
the European Union and how many are from
outside?

Ms Marshall: Overall, the top countries that we have
worked with are Lithuania, Nigeria, Albania,
Thailand and China but, in 2007, that picture
changed and the top five countries have become
China, Nigeria, Albania, Uganda and Thailand. We
think that there is actually a change that has become
reflected in where our referrals come from; 42% of
the women who have been accommodated by us
were of African origin and we are seeing an increased
number of women from Africa and Asia; 31% come
from the EU, usually from Accession State
countries; they are more likely to be from that than
the old European countries, but we have supported
women from Germany and from Switzerland—the
thing about traffickers is that they will exploit
women from anywhere regardless of their origin;
they will exploit vulnerable women—and 69% of our
referrals are non-EU nationals.

Q53 Chairman: Do you find that the way in which
women are trafficked from either inside or outside
the EU differs according to where they come from,
for example the method of travel and the way it is
being done?

Ms Johansson: Yes. Predominantly, as they have the
right to remain in the UK, EU women tend to travel
on their own documents. They are largely deceived
as to the purpose of why they are coming here, so
they are trafficked by means of deception and then
for the purpose of exploitation as well. African
women tend to travel here on false documents, both
false passports and false visa applications. They are
also largely deceived as to the purpose of why they
are coming but they may be more involved in the
process of obtaining those documents. In terms of
other European countries that are non-EU, women
tend to be trafficked through coercion and
deception, so that may involve smuggling in the back
of a lorry or similar methods.
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Q54 Mr Clappison: Congratulations on the work
that you are doing. On this point which you are just
making, putting to one side the EU nationals who
can come here under their own steam, in many but
not all, of the countries which you mentioned which
are outside Europe a visa is required in order to get
into this country. Several years ago, myself and one
or two members of the Committee went to Nigeria
and we were told about the visa issuing process there
and how strict it was, all the checks which were made
against false documentation for example, but you
are telling us that you see a lot of false
documentation and visas which are obtained
improperly. Are you able to feed back what you
learned about this to the authorities in any way?
Ms Johansson: All of the women who come to the
POPPY Project who choose to remain with the
POPPY Project for longer then 30 days do have to
co-operate with the authorities, whether that is
through the intelligence-giving route or whether
giving a formal statement and testifying which is up
to the individual woman. All of that information
would be available to the authorities. One of the
problems we have is that there is a lack of capacity
to deal with these cases because they are very
complex and a lot of that information is not
necessarily captured or, even if it is captured, it does
not necessarily progress to the second level.

Q55 Mr Clappison: They have actually been issued
with visas in many cases, for example the women
from Nigeria?

Ms Johansson: Yes.

Q56 Bob Russell: I understand that you are a
London-based organisation. Are there major
problems with trafficking in the sex trade about
which you are aware in other parts of the country?
Ms Marshall: Yes. We are a London-based
organisation but we take referrals nationally
because, after we started the project, we had to; there
was nobody else doing it at that time. We find that
we get referrals from all major cities, so from
Birmingham, Glasgow, Sheffield, Manchester and
from Liverpool. Where you have off-street
prostitution, you are very likely to have trafficked
women. So, we accommodate women who come to
us from all over the country.

Q57 Bob Russell: Although you are based in
London, do you actually operate outside or do they
come to you? What I am getting at is whether there
is a need for your organisation to have branches in
different parts of the country.

Ms Marshall: There is a need for there to be
trafficking projects outside of London, but you also
have to be quite careful because, if you take
somebody from a relatively smaller town, what you
can do is run the risk of them being identified. We do
need projects outside of London but we also need to
have reciprocal arrangements in order that women
can be moved to safety. For example, if you have a
woman in Liverpool who may have worked in a

number of brothels in Liverpool, it may be easier to
accommodate her in London and vice-versa in that
it may be safer to take someone who has maybe been
trafficked and working in London for a number of
years out of London. There is a need nationally for
accommodation and support projects.

Q58 Bob Russell: Are there clear regional
differences? You mentioned big cities but I think that
you also made reference to small towns. How
widespread is it in the smaller towns in the United
Kingdom?

Ms Marshall: In 2004, we received a referral where
women had been found in a house in Worthing in
East Sussex, which is a very small town; I think itis a
neighbour to Brighton. It is not somewhere that you
would necessarily have identified as a hot spot for
trafficking but a number of Ugandan women were
found in a house in Worthing. Again, where there is
demand, traffickers will seek to supply and, where
there is off-street prostitution, traffickers will be
present.

Q59 Bob Russell: You made reference to demand.
Are you aware that local newspapers with somewhat
dubious advertisements are helping to fuel that
demand?

Ms Marshall: 1 am aware that that is the case and I
think that is absolutely right and they will identify
women of particular ethnic origins in those papers.
However, I have to say that the Government’s Job
Centre also now advertise websites for strippers and
lap dancers. They do not require you to see the Job
Seekers’ Assistant. You can go into the Job Centre,
look on the computer and find those jobs there. So,
yes, newspapers do but also Government Job
Centres.

Q60 Mr Streeter: On that last point, are you aware
of anyone who has actually been lured into
prostitution through a Job Centre advertisement of
that kind?

Ms Marshall: Since we started advertising in our
weekly newsletter, we have had contact from two 17-
year olds who had gone into a Job Centre and,
because they were not on the job seeker’s allowance,
accessed the computer and it brought up a number
of job vacancies. They did not contact us but a
mother and an older sister contacted us because they
were so distressed that this had happened.
Unfortunately, because nobody is monitoring this,
we do not know who is using it. What we do know is
that when you are offering £20 an hour for a webcam
stripper rather than £6 or whatever the minimum
wage is, if you are 17, the chances are that you may
be naive.

Q61 Mr Streeter: The Serious Organised Crime
Agency told us that certain types of crime are
prevalent amongst criminals from certain countries
of origin. Do you have any idea as to which criminal
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gangs are involved in which types of human
trafficking? Does it break down by country of origin?
Ms Johansson: 1t does to a certain extent. It is true
to say that women tend to be recruited by people of
the same national origin. For example, Nigerian
women tend to be recruited by Nigerian traffickers
and Albanian women tend to be recruited by
Albanian traffickers. In terms of the sex industry in
the UK, the experience of the POPPY Project is that
the main gangs that operate are Albanian,
Lithuanian, Russian as well as Chinese.

Q62 Gwyn Prosser: We understand that at present
experienced NGOs like POPPY do not play a formal
role in victim identification. Would you tell us where
you would want to see your role expanded.

Ms Johansson: 1t is essential that the NGOs sit at the
heart of any identification process whether that is the
national referral mechanism as under the Council of
Europe Convention or any sort of identification
process partly because the NGO will have different
expertise and different experience from law
enforcement agencies and will encourage victims
who have had difficult experiences with law
enforcement agencies to come forward and that not
only includes women who have had difficult
experiences in their country of origin but also
women who may have been charged with offences or
treated as immigration offenders in this country. In
terms of how we would see that national referral
mechanism ideally to work would be a multi-agency
independent mechanism where expertise from
different backgrounds and different fields would be
represented, so there would be law enforcement as
well as expertise from sexual exploitation, labour
exploitation, mental health and medical authorities
to together provide that expertise in order to identify
victims swiftly but also to ensure that victims were
afforded the proper care and the proper support
afterwards. In the recent Pentameter 2 operation,
there was a trial of a national referral mechanism
and it is our experience that the majority of the cases
that were referred to the designated competent
authorities—there were trials, BIA and the UKHTC
respectively—by NGOs and the majority of the
decisions that were made in terms of whether
someone was a credible victim of trafficking or not
was taken on the basis of the information provided
by NGOs, so not on the information provided by
law enforcement. I think that demonstrates the need
for NGOs to be a part of that process.

Ms Marshall: 1 think that for us it is very important.
We accept as an NGO that our role is victim care.
There are overlaps obviously for police intelligence,
but we think that there has to be a recognition. The
police are there to police; immigration are there to
deal with immigration. We need a body that is
independent which can actually act as a neutral body
that works with all of the agencies. We think that
that is absolutely vital.

Q63 Gwyn Prosser: 1 agree with you. Under the
present arrangements, are you able to tell us to what
extent people you have identified in your view to be
clearly victims are not accepted as such by the
authorities?

Ms Johansson: The numbers that were trialled
during Pentameter 2 were fairly small. Only 47
women were referred to the POPPY Project during
Pentameter 2, full stop. Only a number of these were
referred to the national referral mechanism for
various reasons. Some of them wanted to return
immediately, so there was no need for them to be
referred to the NRM. I am only aware of one case
where the opinions differed and that was a case
whereby it was accepted that the victim was a victim
of trafficking but it was not seen that she needed any
further reflection delay because she had already been
out of her trafficking situation for a number of
months. So, in all other cases, the assessment that
was made by the POPPY Project was accepted by the
competent authority.

Q64 Margaret Moran: In your submissions, you
have said that a high percentage of asylum cases are
accepted. Would you elaborate on that and explain
that to us. Why are asylum cases not being made at
the outset and what do you think could be done in
terms of the asylum process that would improve the
whole situation?

Ms Johansson: The majority of women who come to
the POPPY Project who do not want to return to
their country of origin do make an asylum
application at the onset of that support. They are
actually making the asylum application as early as
they have the opportunity to. It is important to
remember that all of the women who are being
trafficked are often in a situation where they are not
able to seek that protection and they are also not
aware of their options in terms of claiming asylum.
I think that they do seek asylum at the earliest
opportunity and it is important to recognise that.
Our experience is that very few, if any, cases are
actually accepted at that initial decision level. That is
the same for the old system as it is for the new asylum
model. Very few cases are actually accepted as
having any grounds under the Refugee Convention
or under the humanitarian protection framework.
That means that the majority of the women would
go on to appeal those cases and are successful at
appeal. Roughly 80% of the women supported by
the POPPY Project have been successful at appeal
and have either been awarded indefinite leave to
remain as a refugee or humanitarian protection. I
think that that goes to show that there is a problem
with initial decision making but also I think that
there is a problem in terms of those cases that are
successful are not established as guidance cases and
are not established as case law, so new victims of
trafficking who make new asylum claims are not able
to rely on those successful decisions in the past which
means that initial decision making continues to be
poor.

Q65 Mr Winnick: Your memorandum states that
there is no automatic right for those who are victims
of this vile trade to remain in the United Kingdom,
even if they have provided you. So you write in your
memorandum, with substantial information and
agreed to testify against the perpetrators. The Home
Office no doubt would take the view that to give an
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automatic right would be a loophole in the
immigration rules but presumably you disagree
with that.

Ms Marshall: 1 would like to say a couple of things
about that. First of all, one of the things about
POPPY and women who come to our project is, if
you just wanted to be an illegal worker in this
country, the worst thing you could do is come to the
POPPY Project because it actually just brings you
slap bang to the attention of both the police and the
immigration authorities. It would be much easier to
disappear and not be found. Secondly, the
experience of anti-trafficking agencies that work in
Italy is that women do not throw themselves into
prostitution in order to stay in Italy. That has not
been the case. They have a social path where women
can stay in that country and it has not been the case.
The women with whom we have worked who go to
court and who work with the police are incredibly
brave. They do not know in the end whether they are
going to be able to stay in this country; they do
jeopardise their safety and the safety of their families
at home by giving evidence and by going through the
court case. We simply do not think that allowing
these women to stay in this country will cause a rise
in numbers. That has not been the experience in
Italy.

Q66 Mr Winnick: I understand that but clearly that
is not the view of the Home Office otherwise there
would be the sort of reaction and response that you
would like.

Ms Marshall: To be honest, when we first started the
project back in 2001, we were told that having the
POPPY Project would open the floodgates and that
thousands of women would come flooding in. That
has not been the case. There is growth but actually it
has not caused the floodgates to open. I cannot
speak for the Home Office; I simply think that they
are wrong.

Q67 Mr Winnick: Do I take it that you are in
negotiations with the Home Office to see whether
they will modify their policy?

Ms Marshall: We are in constant negotiation with
the Home Office.

Q68 Mr Winnick: You also state in the
memorandum that deportation of victims invariably
leads to re-trafficking and you have plenty of
evidence along those lines. So, once they are
deported or they leave the United Kingdom, they
simply become victims of these gangsters again.

Ms Johansson: That is the case because there are no
support mechanisms in place to receive women who
are removed or deported, which means that those
initial conditions that made them vulnerable to
trafficking are still very much out there, whether that
is poverty, unemployment, lack of employment
options, lack of training, civil conflict, lack of family
support or whatever there is, those factors are still
relevant whereas, if a voluntary return can be
organised through, for example, the POPPY Project

or similar agencies, we will ensure that someone is at
the receiving end to support that person, to
accommodate that person and to continue with
counselling and medical assistance  with
reintegration programmes. I also think that we need
to recognise that there are certain countries where it
is not realistic to say that that is going to happen
either through lack of available protection and
support in those countries or because the support
and protection is so short term that it is not really
beneficial to any victims. In those cases, I think that
removal is highly inappropriate, does not take
account of the risks that these victims face and will
inevitably lead to them being re-trafficked. We did
state in our submission that 21% of the women we
have supported have been re-trafficked and that
includes women who have returned to their country
of origin sometimes after having been removed from
the UK who have then been identified very quickly
and re-trafficked back into the UK.

Mr Winnick: I certainly admire the work that you do
and I am sure that it is much appreciated by the
victims.

Q069 Chairman: Of the 21%, is it a particular country
that we have a major problem in rerouting or is it just
generally that, when they are deported, they will find
their way back in?

Ms Johansson: 1t is generally. I think that it is a
reflection of the various countries that are
represented in that.

Q70 Mrs Cryer: You have drawn a fairly negative
comparison between the treatment given to
trafficked women between Belgium, Italy and the
Netherlands and the sort of treatment that they
receive here. What are you saying the difference is
between how they are treated here and how they are
treated in those countries?

Ms Marshall: In Italy, there are two options—there
is the legal route where legal redress is sought and
cases are brought to court and traffickers face trial,
but there is also the social route which is an
understanding that some women may not be able to
go down that route in that the intelligence they can
offer or the evidence that they have to give is not
sufficient to warrant a trial—which means that there
is an understanding of women as victims rather than
looking upon them as witnesses or migrant workers.
In terms of the Netherlands and Belgium, they have
been doing that work for a great deal longer than the
UK has. I do not think that they are without
problems, however. For example, one of the good
things about the UK is that women may apply for
asylum whereas that is not the case in the
Netherlands. There have been cases where women
have been through long court cases, one that lasted
for four years and, at the end of that court case, the
woman was simply removed and sent back to her
country of origin. In the UK, we do at least have the
opportunity to make a claim for asylum and I do
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think that that is better but I think that there are
more services in the Netherlands and that there are
more services in Belgium and we do need more. We
do have a great problem with trafficking because
there is so much profit to be made from it.

Ms Johansson: 1 also think it is essential if the
framework from the Council of Europe Convention
is brought in that there are several routes, after the
victim has had their reflection delays lined out in the
Convention, to being granted temporary or
preferably permanent residence in the UK and that
the route does not just go through law enforcement,
it also goes through a humanitarian route that takes
into account someone who might be severely
traumatised and has had very extensive experiences
of abuse, repeated abuse, sexual abuse and physical
abuse, so that the only route to remaining here is not
just through testifying but also the recognition that
this is someone who has been a victim of crime in the
UK who would not necessarily be here if it was not
for the demand that is present in the UK that is
fuelling the sex industry and the trafficking.

Q71 Mrs Dean: You mentioned earlier the situation
outside of London but are there any other support
services in other parts of the country and, if so, what
are they?

Ms Marshall: There is CHASTE, which is Churches
against Sexual Trafficking and Exploitation, which
is a coalition of faith-based organisations that have
been offering support and accommodation. We have
also been working with women’s aid groups to try to
set up structures to provide refuge accommodation
and support.

Ms Johansson: In Scotland, there is the TARA
Project that provides similar services to the POPPY
Project along similar guidelines. Although there are
some groups, either refugee groups or women’s
groups, that provide support to victims of trafficking
because victims of trafficking come their way, there
is a lack of specialist services that have the skills both
in terms of providing for mental health problems
and for women who are very distressed as a result of
their experiences, so suffering from post-traumatic
stress disorder, but that also have the legal
background in order to be able to give the women
the best advice in terms of their options. I think that
there is definitely a lack of those specialist services
outside of London.

Q72 Mrs Dean: Do you have any information on the
cities or towns where women could get help through
CHASTE or from women’s aid?

Ms Marshall: There are very few: down on the
south-west coast and in Leeds. There are a couple of
projects in the north, but there are actually very few.
There has not been funding for those projects, so
there are very few at the moment. Victims of
trafficking rely on the goodwill of those
organisations and the will is there but that is all,
there is no money.

Q73 Mr Streeter: This may be a very silly question
and, if it is, please, forgive me. Does the increase of
girls being trafficked from overseas mean that fewer

UK-based people are being lured into the sex
industry? Do you have any knowledge of that at all?
Is there displacement going on?

Ms Marshall: Five or six years ago, 80% of off-street
prostitution was British nationals and 20% was non-
British nationals. That has completely switched and
it is now 80% non-British nationals and 20% British
nationals. However, there is still the street
prostitution and there is a proliferation for the
Internet escort agencies, some of which are
providing services of prostitution. Nobody seems to
be bringing these figures together, so I am afraid that
it is very difficult to say.

Q74 Mr Streeter: The UKHTC, which you have
already mentioned, was set up to increase and
improve co-ordination amongst the various bodies
working in this field. Would you tell us how
successful you think that has been. Does it co-
ordinate with NGOs? Which public authorities in
particular need to improve their approach to
victims?

Ms Marshall: The UKHTC is still in its early stages
and its job is to gather intelligence. What we do not
have is on the street officers, apart from the Met
Human Trafficking Team, specialist officers who are
out there identifying and bringing cases to court and
I think that that has to be a priority. We have to date
75 cases of trafficking or trafficking associated cases
that have gone to court. It is dreadful that, since we
started the project in 2004, there have only been that
many cases. That is what makes the UK a haven for
traffickers because there are not the police out there
who are doing that work. The UKHTC has started.
I think that it works well with the police and is
learning. Working with NGOs is not a relationship
that is necessarily easy but I think it is willing to
learn. However, I think that we have a long way to

go.

Q75 Margaret Moran: Following on from that
question, you are critical of the UK authorities in
fighting trafficking, but do you have any feel or
statistics for how the, if you like, importing counties
are dealing with it? Are they actively working to
prevent trafficking from their countries? Do you
have any evidence about what is happening to the
women being trafficked as they transit through other
countries? Why are they still being enabled to come
through as they often come through in very large
numbers?

Ms Marshall: 1 think that the Met specialist Human
Trafficking Team is actually very, very good. What I
am saying is that I do not think that there are
enough. If you employ the police officers to do that
job and allowed them to have that specialism,
actually they are very good, it is just that they are not
being enabled to do that. I think that it depends on
which countries you are coming from. We work very
closely with Lithuania and the Lithuanian
Government. Lithuania has been one of the top
countries in terms of women arriving and the
Lithuanian Government have been extremely
sympathetic and have worked extremely hard with
us in terms of trying to put out the awareness in
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Lithuania and working to ensure that women are
returned safely. They are very good. Albania, which
is on the immigration white list, I would say is
actually not very good and there is no recognition
that women are trafficked and that they are not
doing very much there and we have lots of cases of
re-trafficking of women from Albania. I think it very
much depends on which country women come from.

Q76 Margaret Moran: Following up what I was
asking about transiting countries, do you think that
some countries are actually colluding in this?

Ms Johansson: Yes.

Q77 Margaret Moran: Tell us which countries.

Ms Johansson: Albania is a very good example
where we know that there is a very high level of
corruption and where women tell us anecdotally
because that is how the information is collated at this
stage that either law enforcement are actively
involved in their trafficking or they are tacitly
approving of it or receiving payment as a result of it.
That is one country to highlight and I think that is
also true for other countries, Nigeria, for example.
You were asking previously about visas and women
are anecdotally telling us that agents who are helping
them to come to this country seem to be very well
versed with the High Commission, for example, in
Nigeria and seem to know the staff who are working
there and are actually able to facilitate that process.

Q78 Mr Clappison: You have touched on a really
important point there regarding agents. Are these
agents who work for the Government or who work
for the British Government bringing people to the
Commission because there are agencies employed to
help people with their applications for visas in
Nigeria?

Ms Johansson: 1 would not necessarily know but the
women would describe someone as “the person who
helped me come to this country”, “the agent who
arranged my visa”, “the trafficker who arranged my
paperwork” and they seem to be very well versed
with how to go about that and how to make those
documents if not legitimate, then at least legitimate
enough to pass at Passport Control in the UK. It is
also important to touch upon the fact that no
amount of awareness raising in the country of origin
is going to be successful unless the root cause of the
trafficking is actually tackled and that includes
demand in this country, but it also includes push
factors such as poverty and unemployment and the
status of women in those countries where there is a
very unequal status of women.

Q79 Margaret Moran: Can you say something about
transit countries.

Ms Johansson: There are a number of established
transit countries including Italy and France en route
to the UK. I cannot necessarily say whether they are
actively colluding in that or not, but women are
actively transiting, for example through Africa—

Q80 Chairman: Whereabouts in Italy? Rome?
Ms Johansson: Not necessarily.

Q81 Chairman: Anywhere in Italy and anywhere in
France?

Ms Johansson: Nigerian women, for example, are
very often trafficked through Italy to the UK. It
seems to be an established route: travel by boat to
Italy and then on to the UK.

Q82 Mr Streeter: In order to give me an overall feel
of this, what percentage of earnings are these girls
allowed to keep for themselves? How much is
creamed off by the traffickers? What I am trying to
get at is, how much do they send home to their
families and so on?

Ms Marshall: 1t varies. Some women will get no
money whatsoever; some traffickers have learned
that, if they give women £1 per customer, they can
then say that the woman was benefiting from
prostitution which is helpful if they are ever picked
up and there is a court case. It may be £1 or it may
be £5. It is very usually a minimum to enable the
trafficker to prepare a defence at some later stage.
Some women get nothing.

Q83 Chairman: Thank you very much. I am sorry, do
you have a very quick point to put to us?

Ms Johansson: 1 have regarding the Dublin 2
regulation, something about which we are very
concerned. As we said before, 69% of the women on
the POPPY Project are non-EU nationals and the
majority of them will have transited through
between one and nine other EU countries, which
means that if Dublin 2 regulations were in force in
terms of all victims of trafficking, the POPPY
Project, for example, would be reduced to a mere
transit centre. It would mean that the majority of the
women who came to us we would not be able to
support, not be able to give counselling to and not be
able to give legal advice to because they would
immediately be transferred back to another country.
I think it is important to highlight that the Dublin 2
regulations came in to reduce asylum shopping but
do not actually address where women are victims of
crime or being forcibly transited through other
countries. We are very concerned to ensure that
women are able to seek justice in the UK where they
have been the victim of crime but also to seek
support here.

Ms Marshall: For example, you may have a woman
whose trafficker decides to take her through Spain
and Germany before the trafficker brings her to
London. What will happen under Dublin 2 is that
she will be removed to Spain. She does not have any
choice about going there; she may not speak that
language; she may only speak English; she may have
worked in prostitution in this country. I think it is,
quite frankly, a shabby attempt to shirk
responsibility for the fact that she would not come to
London or to the rest of the UK if there was not
demand and to punish her seems abhorrent.
Chairman: Thank you very much for those points.
Those are very important points which the
Committee will pursue during the course of this



Home Affairs Committee: Evidence Ev 17

29 April 2008 Ms Denise Marshall and Ms Anna Johansson

inquiry. May I echo what members of the Committee
have said individually which is to thank both of you
not just for coming here today but also for the
excellent work that the POPPY Project does not just

in this country but it is respected and admired
internationally on human trafficking and we are very
grateful to you for what you have done. Thank you
very much.

Witness: Ms Christine Beddoe, Director, ECPAT UK, gave evidence.

Q84 Chairman: Thank you very much for coming to
give evidence to us today on this very important
inquiry. I want to concentrate in your evidence
session on children and the way in which children are
trafficked. Is there a particular way that children are
trafficked into the United Kingdom and does it
depend on their country of origin?

Ms Beddoe: As with adult victims of trafficking, we
are still very much behind when it comes to our
knowledge base of child trafficking. Therefore, what
information I can give you is not conclusive but it is
from our experience and from the experience of
police and other agencies with whom we work. We
know that children are coming into the UK being
trafficked for sexual exploitation, domestic
servitude, other forms of forced labour, benefit fraud
and organised criminal activity such as cannabis
cultivation and street crime from all parts of the
world. Just as the POPPY Project mentioned trends
with adult women, we are also seeing different trends
with children and, at the moment, what appears to
be the case is that a vast majority of children who
have been trafficked into the country are currently
Chinese children. We also see a large number of
children coming from the African continent. Unlike
in past years when it was predominantly West
Africa, we now see trends emerging of children from
throughout the African continent, north, south, east
and west. This is something that has changed over
the last few years.

Q85 Chairman: One issue that concerns this
Committee and was quoted in The Guardian last
week is the number of foreign children who are
placed in local authority care and who then
disappear from local authority care. The figure of
400 foreign children was mentioned in The Guardian
article last week; is that an accurate figure?

Ms Beddoe: We believe that it is. The source of that
information came from a Freedom of Information
Act request, so we believe that that is an accurate
number and that there are only a small number of
local authorities which those numbers came from, so
the real number is likely to be much higher. Our own
research that we conducted two years ago which we
published in 2007 in a very small scale study was
that, of 80 children known or suspected as trafficked,
60% of those children had gone missing from local
authority care in five local authorities.

Q86 Chairman: Let us go through those figure a little
slower for the Committee’s benefit. Are we talking
about a year? Were the figures you gave us for 2007
the figures for 2006?

Ms Beddoe: One of the anomalies that we have in
data collection is that unfortunately data is not
always recorded so neatly. When we requested
information from local authorities during the period
of our study—these were local authorities in the
north-east, north-west and the West Midlands—it
was dependent on what information they had
available.

Q87 Chairman: What was the timescale of your
inquiry?
Ms Beddoe: 1t was over 18 months.

Q88 Chairman: Over an 18-month period, you wrote
to a number of local authorities.
Ms Beddoe: Yes, and interviewed.

Q89 Chairman: And they said that, of the 80 children
in care, 60% disappeared?
Ms Beddoe: That is correct.

Q90 Chairman: Is the figure of 400 an extrapolation
for that?

Ms Beddoe: No, not at all. The figure of 400 was not
our numbers; that came from what I understand to
be a Freedom of Information request that came from
The Guardian itself to local authorities.

Q91 Chairman: So, you say that the figure is even
higher than that?

Ms Beddoe: Yes. 1 would like to take that further.
That was our first study. We called our report
Missing Out because we were so horrified at those
numbers. The Government did their own scoping
study a few months later published as the CEOP
Report—Child Exploitation and Online Protection
Centre report—and they came up with a figure of
330 children suspected or identified as trafficked of
which 56% had gone missing from local authority
care. Their figures in percentage terms and our
figures are very, very similar. That was a UK-wide
study.

Q92 Chairman: Where do these children go?
Ms Beddoe: We do not know because they go
missing.

Q93 Chairman: What is the follow-up that you do as
an organisation when you find out what these figures
are and that they are as high as they have been?

Ms Beddoe: One of the things that we have been
trying to do is raise this not only at local authority
level but to the Ministers responsible. I have myself
written to the Minister responsible for children to
not only raise this to their attention—
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Q94 Chairman: Was that to a Junior Minister or to
the Secretary of State?

Ms Beddoe: 1t was to a Junior Minister in 2007 when
our report came out to which I was told that there
was no need for an independent inquiry because it
was all being dealt with. I think that is a disgrace. I
cannot believe that a Children’s Minister cannot
think that it is not a serious problem and that was
when we had the lower figure. We still now have no
formal response from the Secretary of State.

Q95 Chairman: May I stop you there. You wrote to
the Minister for Children with the results of your
survey and asked for follow-up action and he replied
to you saying that no further action was going to
be taken.

Ms Beddoe: That is correct.

Q96 Chairman: Would you let the Committee have a
copy of your letter to him and his letter to you?
M Beddoe: Yes, 1 will, absolutely.!

Q97 Chairman: The whole Committee would share
your view that this is a very, very important issue and
they are shocked to learn that that was the response.
Who is the Minister concerned?

Ms Beddoe: We are talking about 2007 and I would
need to go back. I have subsequently written other
letters to Ministers who have come on board later
and I am prepared to share all of those letters and the
responses with the Committee.

Q98 Chairman: What was the latest letter that you
wrote to a Government Minister about this subject?
Do you know roughly when that was?

Ms Beddoe: 1t would have been in mid-2007.

Q99 Chairman: What was their response? Was it a
similar response?

Ms Beddoe: Yes.

Chairman: I find this shocking and I think that the
rest of the Committee finds it shocking as well.

Q100 Margaret Moran: I have been doing a little of
my own research in Luton with the police and Social
Services who tell me that six Chinese children have
been trafficked in through different airports. That is
all they know because the figures are not collated.
My first question is, should somebody somewhere be
trying to collate these figures? I was a little concerned
when you said that nobody knows where the
children are going because research by Bedfordshire
University shows that there are established patterns.
Children are going into the care of Social Services
and, within 48 hours in our case, they are going
missing and they can map the towns that they are
being taken to. Surely if we know that information—
and I am a little alarmed that you do not but that
research has been done—how is it that we cannot
track and intercept what is going on?

Ms Beddoe: When we talk about children going
missing, if they have gone missing and they have not
been traced, then nobody knows their whereabouts.
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There are children who have been traced and who
emerge later on in other local authorities and, if
those children are in local authority care and if they
have come to the attention of the authorities or other
groups, then, yes, of course we know those children
too. When we are truly talking about children who
go missing, they are missing because there is no other
data and I think that that is the problem that most
concerns us. Instead of having the same responses
that we would have had, if there were a missing child
who is an indigenous British child, where there are
processes in place. There are police processes and
there are children services processes.

Q101 Chairman: But you are saying that this is not
being dealt with; it is not being followed up.

Ms Beddoe: No and part of the problem is that
children go missing very early after arriving into
local authority care and those processes are not
clicked in because the various teams that are
responsible are leaving children who are already
vulnerable exposed to become lured or going
missing.

Chairman: Margaret Moran will come back to this
later in the light of your observations.

Q102 Gwyn Prosser: Before I move on with the next
question, may I ask if you have a feel of whether
these children are in some way compliant with the
process. In other words, do they have a pre-arranged
game plan or are they being dictated to?

Ms Beddoe: 1 think that we need to go back to
looking at the situation of children who are coming
into the country as trafficked children. Many of
them do not even know that they are being
trafficked. Many are deceived into thinking that they
are coming for a better life. We often talk about the
“better life syndrome”, particularly with children
who are being brought into the country for domestic
servitude. There are often promises of education or
employment opportunities or even foster care and it
is only later on when they find themselves in highly
exploitative situations that they start to realise that
things are not going in the way that they thought. So,
at the time of arrival, even upon interview by
immigration authorities, that child may still have no
idea what the intention is for them to eventually go
into and I think that it is at that point in time when
the question is asked, are children compliant? They
have often been told the story to tell, yes, but, at that
time, they may think that that will help them get into
education or school and I think that we have to look
at what children say in the context of what it is that
they have been told before and that is not often
brought out.

Chairman: Before Gwyn Prosser goes on, Ms Buck
has a point to raise.

Q103 Ms Buck: I am sorry to ask such a basic
question but could you clarify for the Committee
what the process is by which the majority of these
children are coming. They are presumably coming in
with a fake passport that identifies them as the child
or relative or someone who is not a relative; is that
right?
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Ms Beddoe: Children come into the country by all
means. They can come in completely legally on their
own passport; it is very unlikely but it is possible. We
have children coming in through various means such
as in the back of a lorry who have been trafficked,
who have no documentation, and then we have
children—and this is most of our experience—who
are arriving into the UK on documents that are not
their own. That does not mean that they are false and
faked up, it means that either the documents that
have been used to obtain the passport have been
fraudulent or that the document is simply another
child with a real child’s passport and some of those
children even have the same photograph as the
previous child. It is very difficult to say that there is
one answer.

Q104 Ms Buck: Are the ones who come through that
route accompanied for the most part?

Ms Beddoe: There are children who are
accompanied and children who are coming on their
own.

Q105 Gwyn Prosser: I want to ask you about in
particular the special support and care that these
children need in terms of their mental health and
their physical well being. Would you tell us a little
about that.

Ms Beddoe: When children come into local
authority care, usually their physical health needs
are met quite quickly within our system; that is
usually the case. However, for most of them it is the
mental healthcare needs that goes undetected or
unnoticed or not even bothered about and what we
see very often is that children who have been
trafficked experience a high level of post-traumatic
stress disorder that sometimes manifests in what is
called difficult behaviours or antisocial behaviours
and children are often not treated in the way they
should be and do not get access to counselling
services and do not get access to the proper mental
healthcare support because, in local authority care
systems when children come into the asylum system,
access to counselling is often on a long waiting list;
access to CAMHS or child and adolescent mental
health services are often on a very long waiting list,
so mental health issues often go completely
undetected.

Q106 Gwyn Prosser: I believe that your organisation
has been talking about some sort of guardianship
system; do you want to elaborate on that?

Ms Beddoe: We believe that it is imperative to have a
system of guardianship on an independent basis for
every separated child who comes into the UK and
specifically for trafficked children. A guardian is not
the same as a social worker and a guardian is not the
same as a legal adviser. Guardians have an
independent role to ensure that the child is getting
access to all support services and treatment within
the best interests of that individual child. A guardian
would help children to navigate the vast maze of
different services they have to go through whether
that is immigration, legal or local authority care, and
we believe that a guardian really is one of the key

tools that we can use to prevent children going
missing but also to ensure that every child who is a
victim of trafficking gets the support that they need.

Q107 Gwyn Prosser: Would they be volunteers or
would they be part of your organisation?

Ms Beddoe: We believe that a system of guardianship
should be set up under statute. The responsibilities
they would have would equate to parental
responsibility. Therefore, this is not something that
we would expect to be done on a volunteer basis.
There are different models of guardianship around
the world—the Netherlands has an excellent
model—and we think that there is definitely scope to
look at some of those global models.

Chairman: We are running well behind time because
what you have to say is so fascinating and important
to the Committee. Could I ask the members of the
Committee and you, Ms Beddoe, if you could to
keep your questions and answers as brief as possible.

Q108 Mrs Dean: Are there regional variations in the
support services available to child victims of
trafficking? Which regions seem to apply best
practice and how can we spread that best practice?

Ms Beddoe: Support services are patchy all over the
United Kingdom. We have a small number of very
good practice models. It does not seem to be
necessarily in big cities or urban areas. There is no
consistency so you may get one good local authority
within a regional grouping but the other local
authorities around it are not necessarily up to the
same standard. I think that is a difficult question to
give a comprehensive answer to.

Q109 Mr Streeter: You have been quite critical in
your evidence about how the Borders and
Immigration Agency deal with these children. How
do they deal with them and how should they deal
with them in your opinion?

Ms Beddoe: One of the biggest complications that we
have in offering or suggesting to offer up a fully
comprehensive package of support for children is
that the vast majority of children are trafficked into
the UK from outside the European Uni